IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-KA-00167-COA

KAREY WHITTINGTON

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS George T. Holmes, MSB No. 301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210 Jackson MS 39201 601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-KA-00167-COA

KAREY WHITTINGTON

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1:	WHETHER INCOMPETENT HEARSAY, BOLSTERING AND VOUCHING PREJUDICED WHITTINGTON?
ISSUE NO. 2:	WHETHER WHITTINGTON SHOULD HAVE BEEN ALLOWED TO USE HEARSAY TO IMPEACH THE STATE'S HEARSAY EVIDENCE?
ISSUE NO. 3:	WHETHER PREJUDICE RESULTED FROM BAD-CHARACTER EVIDENCE?
ISSUE NO. 4:	WHETHER A MANSLAUGHTER INSTRUCTION WAS REQUIRED?

ISSUE NO. 5: WHETHER A SELF-DEFENSE INSTRUCTION WAS REQUIRED?

ISSUE NO. 6: WHETHER THE VERDICT IS SUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Pike County, Mississippi where Karey Whittington was convicted of murder and sentenced to life imprisonment. A jury trial was held September 15-17, 2004 with Honorable Keith Starrett, Circuit Judge, presiding. Whittington is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

During the evening of March 5, 1999, Jerry Frith, age 34, was shot once in the lower right chest on a residential street in McComb, in an area commonly referred to as Baertown. [T. 130-32, 149, 152-54, 171, 231-32; Exs. 2, 3, 4, 5, 6]. Mr. Frith died almost immediately. [T. 132-33]. One witness, Leroy Carr, who was nearby, heard a shot and saw a red Chevrolet Camaro with "two white guys" speeding away from where Frith's body was found. *Id*.

Police investigators discovered a bottle of gin and crack cocaine paraphernalia on Mr. Frith; and, toxicology analysis showed blood alcohol and cocaine metabolites in Frith's system. [T. 157-60, 166-67, 178, 180-81, 244; Ex.12]. A forensic pathologist and ballistic expert both said the projectile recovered from Mr. Frith was consistent with a .410 shotgun slug. [T. 233, 237, 249; Ex. 7].

According to law enforcement, no pursuable suspects developed in the Frith shooting for over three years. [T. 140-41]. In April 2003, however, a Pike County detective, who was investigating burglaries, asked an incarcerated informant, Robert LeBlanc, if LeBlanc knew of any other criminal activity in the area besides burglaries. [T. 140-43].

LeBlanc, who was a jail trustee eager to stay on good terms with law enforcement, responded affirmatively, and although identifying someone else initially, LeBlanc ultimately implicated Karey Whittington and Tony Temple in the Frith homicide, after

refreshing his memory from conversations with other unidentified inmates. [T. 187-93, 200, 205-08].

LeBlanc had no first-hand knowledge. LeBlanc said his only source was Tony
Temple and the aforementioned unnamed inmates. [T. 188]. Tony Temple and LeBlanc
had ongoing criminal endeavors. [T. 255-56].

Tony Temple, known to law enforcement because of his pending burglary and grand larceny charges, was located and interviewed. [T. 141-42]. Temple told officers, and testified at trial that, on the night of Frith's shooting, he and Whittington, who were from Magnolia, went to McComb to buy some marijuana off the street. [T. 143-45, 258-64]. According to Temple, the two were in Temple's red 1981 Camaro. *Id.* [Ex. 16]. Temple said they drove around McComb looking for marijuana; but, they could not find any and ended up in the Baertown area of McComb. *Id.* Temple said there was a .410 with a pistol grip on the back floorboard that belonged to Temples "grandpa". *Id.*

According to Temple, once they got to Baertown, Temple and Whittington ended up talking to two men on the passenger side of the Camaro, with Whittington asking for some pot, but being told that the only dope the two men had for sale was crack. *Id*.

Temple said as they started to drive off, Whittington leaned out the passenger window "and shot the dude" with the .410. *Id*.

According to Temple, Whittington said not to worry, that he did not shoot anybody, just scared them because he was tired of getting ripped off by dope dealers, who

had had guns on prior occasions. [T. 265-66]. On cross-examination, Temple said that Whittington told him also that Frith displayed a gun, but Temple did not see it. [T. 275-76].

Temple said after the shooting, the .410 was hidden in some hay which eventually caught fire burning the gun which was then rediscovered by Temple's grandpa. [T. 267-68]. No weapon was introduced into evidence.

Although Temple was initially charged with murder in the present case, he was allowed to plead to accessory after the fact; also, Temple's pending burglary charges were dropped, and his probation from a prior receiving stolen goods case was revoked for only two months. [T. 256-58, 283-287]. Temple had not been sentenced for the accessory conviction at the time of trial. [T. 256-58, 271, 287].

When asked who, if anyone, could corroborate his story, Temple told police that Dewayne Cash, who was staying with Whittington in Magnolia could confirm what Temple claimed. [T. 144]. So, police located and interviewed Cash. [T. 145].

At trial Dewayne Cash said he was staying with Whittington and Whittington's mom in Magnolia in March of 1999. [T. 316-18]. Cash said, one night Whittington and Temple came in "acting very strangely", with Temple freaking out pacing and asking, "why did he do it?". *Id.* Upon inquiry by Cash to Whittington, Cash said Whittington admitted shooting someone in McComb. *Id.*

Cash said he thought Whittington's claims were not true because no serious

attempt was made to hide Temple's red Camaro. [T. 320]. Cash admitted friction between he and Whittington over Whittington's then wife Candy Berry with the conflict culminating in a physical fight between Cash and Whittington. [T. 322-23].

The state also presented testimony from Whittington's ex-wife Candy Berry with whom there had been longstanding acrimony. [T. 355]. Berry testified that, after she and Whittington were divorced, for some unknown reason Whittington allegedly, and conveniently, told her about the Frith shooting, purportedly stating that he and Temple were looking for marijuana in McComb on the night of the shooting, and that the victim, Frith, pulled a gun out, Temple yelled "let's go", and that Whittington said he leaned out the window of the red Camaro as it drove off and shot into the air not intending to harm anyone. [T. 358-59].

The state presented the testimony of three other inmates who claimed to have overheard conversations allegedly broadcasted by Whittington in a common area of the Pike County Jail that he was guilty of the Frith homicide. Drew Wallace, former Pike county jail inmate, testified that he associated with Whittington and Whittington's father who were in jail at the same time. [T. 337, 340]. Wallace said Whittington told him that he was in jail for murder and that "he did it", explaining that Temple was with him and the shooting was over a bad drug deal. [T. 342]. Wallace said on direct there was no deal in regards to his testimony, but on cross-examination, Wallace said that his testimony earned him an opportunity to earn probation through the Regimented Inmate Disciplinary

Program (RID), a better deal than before. [T. 344, 347, 349-50].

The state also offered the testimony of Jeff Box a trustee mechanic at the Pike County jail incarcerated for various methamphetamine charges. [T. 371-72]. Box claimed Whittington told him he had killed someone. [T. 375]. Box said he received special treatment as trustee and testified against Whittington to keep in the good graces of law enforcement. [T. 377-79].

The state's third jailhouse witness was Mario Molinari who had been in the Pike County jail on bad check charges back in 2003. [T. 383]. Molinari said he met Whittington and Whittington's father in the jail. [T. 385-87]. Molinari said Whittington bragged in jail several times about killing someone saying allegedly that he and Temple were involved and that the victim had made Whittington mad. *Id.* Molinari alleged Whittington said he shot out of the passenger side of Temple's car with a .410. *Id.*

Whittington, on the other hand, presented his own jailhouse witnesses Raymond Dangerfield, Michael Kennedy and Karey Dale Whittington, Sr., to rebut the state's evidence, all saying that the appellant never admitted anything about killing anyone.[T. 407, 412, 426-29, 435-37].

Defense witness Amanda Brewer, explained that Whittington's ex-wife Candy Berry had been very motivated to keep Whittington in jail. [T. 445]. Brewer also disputed Candy Berry's denial of telephone conversations with Brewer. *Id*.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The state's case was based on incompetent hearsay, deal based testimony and conjecture. Whittington was not allowed to impeach the state's hearsay evidence with conflicting hearsay. Whittington was irreparably prejudiced by unrelated bad character evidence. The trial court should have instructed the jury on manslaughter and, or, self-defense. The jury's verdict was not supported by the weight of competent evidence.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER INCOMPETENT HEARSAY, BOLSTERING AND VOUCHING PREJUDICED WHITTINGTON?

There was but one "eye witness" in this case, and that was co-defendant Temple.

There was one ear witness and that was Leroy Carr.

The rest of the state's case consisted of eight hearsay witnesses who just repeated what they were told, either allegedly by Temple or allegedly by Whittington. Out of this hearsay free-for-all, three glaring and prejudicial evidentiary infractions arose.

First, the jury heard accusations against Whittington which were never tested by cross-examination, a confrontation clause violation, including, unchallenged identification of Whittington by the unknown jail inmates from whom Robert LeBlanc refreshed his memory which was communicated to the jury through two investigators. [T. 143-45, 187-93, 200, 205-08]. Whittington's objections were overruled on the stated

pretext that the hearsay was merely information explaining subsequent action and not offered as proof of the matter asserted. *Id*.

Secondly, prejudice resulted from the state cumulatively bolstering hearsay with hearsay through police investigators merely repeating what they were told, which included repeating the aforementioned unchallenged third hand allegations.

Thirdly, after McComb Police Investigator Perry Ashley testified, over objection, that he spoke with Temple and Temple identified Whittington as the shooter in the case and that a person named Dwayne Cash could confirm this, Investigator Ashley stated he spoke with Cash and relayed to the jury what Cash said, but then vouched that Cash's statement was consistent with what Temple's. [T. 142-45]. Testimony by which one witness vouches for another is *per se* incompetent and is prohibited. *Woods v. State*, 973 So.2d 1022, 1026 (¶10) (Miss. Ct. App. 2008), [citing] *Williams v. State*, 539 So.2d 1049, 1051 (Miss.1989) and *Smith v. State*, 925 So.2d 825, 838-39(¶32) (Miss.2006).

As stated above, the hearsay evidence was allowed by the trial court by redefining the questionable evidence as "investigative information" offered to explain officers' actions and not offered as proof of the matter asserted. See M. R. E. 801 (c). Appellant suggests this redefinition is pretextual in this case, because, all the police detectives had to say here was that LeBlanc gave information which made in necessary to speak with Tony Temple and that Temple gave information which led police to Dwayne Cash, and so forth. Nevertheless, obviously, the state needed desperately to bolster its key witness

Temple, because of the good deal Temple got, and the trial court erroneously went along.

As stated in the facts, it was reported through Detective Haygood that Robert LeBlanc initially named a different shooter, a Daniel Hartley. [T. 192, 194]. But overnight, LeBlanc spoke with several jail inmates who "corrected" this and who named Whittington as the shooter, hearsay at its rankest. [Id., 200, 205-08].

This testimony explained absolutely no future action on the part of law enforcement. In fact, the two testifying officers spent most of there testimony repeating the accusations against Whittington told to them rather than actually explaining anything they did in their investigation. This leads to the logical conclusion that the state's real purpose of presenting the evidence was not to explain the officers actions, but to bolster its house-of-cards hearsay deal-based case. The trial court should have excluded all of this evidence.

Hearsay is defined as, "a statement, other than one made by the declarant while testifying at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted." M. R E. 801. Hearsay is inadmissible, except under certain exceptions, and when improperly admitted constitutes reversible error. *Murphy v. State*, 453 So. 2d 1290, 1294 (Miss. 1984) Miss. R. Evid. Rules 802, 803 and 804. See also *Quimby v. State*, 604 So. 2d 741, 746-47 (Miss. 1992).

In Ratcliff v. State, 308 So. 2d 225, 226-27 (Miss. 1975), a police officer was allowed to testify what an informant had told him during the officer's investigation. The

court said, "[i]nvestigators cannot be permitted to relate to a jury hearsay which is incriminating in its effect as to a defendant on trial for a crime . . . [w]hat an informant told [the investigating officers] was hearsay and inadmissible to the jury." *Id*.

The victim in *Ratcliff* had testified identifying the defendant. Nevertheless, the *Ratcliff* court reversed and remanded the armed robbery conviction based, in part, on the circumvention of the defendant's cross-examination rights which resulted from the admission of the hearsay. *Id.*

In Anderson v. State, 156 So. 645, 646-47 (Miss. 1934) it was pointed out that:

[t]his court has consistently condemned the practice of undertaking to bolster up the testimony of a witness on the stand, and to strengthen his credibility by proof of his declarations to the same effect as sworn to by him out of court.

In Anderson, investigating officers were allowed to testify that they took the defendant to the victim who was in bed recouping from being shot and that the victim identified the defendant. The Anderson court reversed the conviction stating, "[t]he testimony of [the officers] under the circumstances should not have been admitted." Id. If the testimony was inadmissible and reversible error in Ratcliff and Anderson, it is likewise inadmissible and reversible error here. See also Bridgeforth v. State, 498 So.2d 796, 800 (Miss.1986).

In *Crawford v. Washington*, 124 S. Ct 1354, 1356-59, 541 U.S. 36, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004), Crawford was charged with and convicted of assault with a deadly weapon for stabbing a man who allegedly tried to rape his wife. 124 S. Ct. at 1356-58

Crawford's wife gave a recorded statement to investigating officers which was introduced at trial against Crawford. *Id.* Crawford was never given the opportunity to cross examine the wife's statement. *Id.* Crawford gave a statement/confession claiming self defense which was consistent with the wife's version. *Id.*

Crawford's wife was "unavailable" and did not testify because of the marital privilege applicable in Washington state which did not extend to the spouse's out of court statements. *Id.* The *Crawford* court ruled that admission of wife's statement violated the Confrontation Clause. *Id.* at 1359.

The Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause provides that '[i]n all criminal prosecutions the accused shall enjoy the right . . . to be confronted with the witnesses against him.'

* * *

The text of the Confrontation Clause . . . applies to 'witnesses' against the accused – in other words those who 'bear testimony'. Testimony in turn is typically a solemn declaration or affirmation made for the purpose of establishing or proving some fact.

* * *

An accuser who makes a formal statement to government officers bears testimony in a sense that a person who makes casual remark to an acquaintance does not." *Id.* at 1364.

The *Crawford* Court explained that statements given to police officers sworn to or not are clearly testimonial, "the Sixth Amendment is not solely concerned with testimonial hearsay. . ." it would also be concerned with "testimonial statements of a witness who did not appear at trial unless he was unavailable to testify and the defendant had a prior opportunity for cross-examination." *Id.* at1364-65.

Applying *Crawford*, in this case, it is clear that the investigators' repetition of the statements of Temple and LeBlanc violated the Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause, especially the testimony about LeBlanc refreshing his memory with overnight conversations with unknown persons in the jail.

In the Mississippi Supreme Court's decision in *Clark v. State*, 891 So.2d 136 (Miss. 2005), ¶16, the Court applied *Crawford*, and found error in the fact that a police officer was allowed to restate to the jury what witnesses had told him. The *Clark* court did not reverse because the erroneous evidence was cumulative of other "overwhelming" evidence. *Id.* Here in Whittington's case, the evidence of guilt is not overwhelming, nor was the improper evidence "merely cumulative".

Whittington's trial was rendered unfair. In *Murphy v. State*, 453 So.2d 1290, 1294 (Miss.1984), the appellant argued that the trial court allowing investigating officers to testify as to what they were told by a witness. The *Murphy* court reversed and remanded the case for a new trial. The *Murphy* court stated that the trial court's allowance of hearsay evidence in that case, similarly to the present facts, "violated Murphy's right to a fair trial and is reversible error." *Id*.

The present case does not involve the kind of valid investigatory information to explain an investigating officers action as in *Jackson v. State*, 935 So.2d 1108, 1114 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). In *Jackson*, the testimony was offered to "to show why an officer acted as he did and where he was at a particular place at a particular time . . . [and] not

introduced for the purpose of proving the truth of the assertion."

Even if investigative information was justified in the present case, the state exceeded its allowable parameters circumnavigating Whittington's confrontation rights. It was not necessary for the jury to know all of the details gathered in the police interviews when the witnesses themselves were going to testify.

The case of *Turner v. State*, 573 So.2d 1335, 1338 (Miss. 1990), shines a light on the present issue. In *Turner*, the court explained that an otherwise objectionable statement is not hearsay under Rule 801 if "made to explain the reason for a later action", since, the questionable evidence is not offered for the truth of the matter asserted.

What is important for the present case is that the *Turner* court pointed out that a trial court should carefully apply "an objective test ... of how a reasonable objective observer would under the circumstances be likely to perceive" the questionable testimony. *Id.* That is, whether a reasonable person would consider the evidence offered as proof of what was asserted or for some other reason. *Id.*

The *Turner* court said that attention should be turned to "[w]hat the contested statement is supposed to 'explain.'" The *Turner*, the court recognized the pretext that "[a]ny reasonably intelligent, objective observer, e.g., a juror," hearing a police officer repeating a witness' identification of the defendant in that case would assume only that the testimony was offered for the purpose of proving that the declarant was identifying the defendant.

Whittington asks the Court now to apply the *Turner* test and recognize that, in applying the reasonable person standard, the purpose of allowing the police investigators here to repeat the hearsay accusations and identifications against Whittington was for no other reason that to identify Whittington as the shooter of Mr. Frith, and was thus hearsay. The *Turner* court found that such a statement was indeed hearsay, but was admissible, nonetheless, under the "present sense impression" exception. There is no exception applicable to the present facts.

The prejudice to Whittington was a dilution of his rights of cross-examination and fair trial under the Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States and Article 3 § 26 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890.

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER WHITTINGTON SHOULD HAVE BEEN ALLOWED TO USE HEARSAY TO IMPEACH THE STATE'S HEARSAY EVIDENCE?

To rebut the state's evidence that Whittington made statements in the jail about the charges against him, Whittington offered the testimony of Raymond Dangerfield, Michael Kennedy and Karey Whittington, Sr. [T. 407-09, 429, 435-37]. The trial court excluded a substantial portion of the witnesses testimony pertaining to the details about what the appellant said or did not say on the grounds of hearsay. [T. 409, 419, 429]. Proffers were made. [T. 415-419, 452-54]. This impeachment evidence should have been allowed.

Also, state witness Candy Berry denied having a telephone conversation with a woman named Amanda Brewer about Whittington. [T. 361]. Whittington offered the testimony of Amanda Brewer to rebut Berry's denial and to rebut what Berry had said about being motivated to keep Whittington in jail because of marital strife. [T. 445-48]. The trial court allowed Brewer to state that she had a telephone conversation with Berry but disallowed the specifics of conversation according to Brewer based on hearsay. *Id.* This too was error.

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