## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### KAREY WHITTINGTON

#### APPELLANT

VS.

ŗ

NO. 2009-KA-0167

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# APPELLEE

## **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

## APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

#### JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

.

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Hearsay is an out-of-court statement offered by a declarant to prove the truth of the matter asserted. M.R.E. 801(c). However, in this case, the testimony was not hearsay because it was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. The testimony was offered to show the path of the investigation and not to prove Whittington's guilt.

Based on the testimony presented at trial, Whittington did not have a reasonable ground to apprehend a design to commit a felony or to do some great personal injury, and there shall be imminent danger of such design being accomplished. Thus, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to Whittington, there is no evidentiary foundation for a self defense instruction. Thus, the trial court did not err by refusing the self defense instruction. This issue is without merit.

Thus, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to Whittington, there is no evidentiary foundation for a manslaughter instruction. Thus, the trial court did not err by refusing the manslaughter instruction. This issue is without merit.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. The trial judge was within his discretion to overrule Whittington's objections to the testimony of Perry Ashley.

The standard of review for the admission or exclusion of evidence is an abuse of discretion. *Ladnier v. State*, 878 So.2d 926, 933 (Miss.2004). Reversal will not occur "unless the error adversely affects a substantial right of a party." *Id.* (quoting *Whitten v. Cox*, 799 So.2d 1, 13 (Miss.2000)). Hearsay is an out-of-court statement offered by a declarant to prove the truth of the matter asserted. M.R.E. 801( c). However, in this case, the testimony was not hearsay because it was not offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. The testimony was offered to show the path of the investigation and not to prove Whittington's guilt. Further, the trial court clearly instructed the jury as to the nature of the evidence and how it was to be considered. Juries are presumed to follow the directions of the trial court. "[W]hen a trial court instructs the jury, it is presumed the jurors follow the instructions of the court." *Grayson v. State*, 879 So.2d 1008, 1020(32) (Miss.2004) (quoting *Williams v. State*, 684 So.2d 1179, 1209 (Miss.1996)). "It is well settled that when the trial judge sustains an objection to testimony and he directs the jury to disregard it, prejudicial error does not result." *Pittman v. State*, 928 So.2d 244, 250(¶ 12) (Miss.Ct.App.2006) (quoting <u>Estes v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 437, 439 (Miss.1988)).

On direct examination by the State, Assistant Chief Perry Ashley testified regarding the investigation he made into the murder of Jerry Frith which occurred in 1999. Ashley testified

that in May of 2003, Investigator Haygood of the Pike County Sheriff's Department told him about Robert LeBlanc who had information regarding the murder of Jerry Frith. Haygood then brought LeBlanc to meet with Ashley. LeBlanc gave a statement and named some individuals. Later he stated corrected his statement as to the identity of one of the individuals. On Jun 18, 2003, as part of his investigation, Ashley then talked to Tony Temple about the murder of Jerry Frith. Temple was later indicted as an accessory after the fact. (Tr. 141) Ashley testified Temple gave him a statement regarding his involvement in a the murder of Jerry Frith. Ashley testified that Temple also spoke of another person's involvement. (Tr. 143) Defense counsel objected to hearsay. The prosecutor stated that Temple's identification of another individual was not being offered for the truth of the matter asserted, but was offered merely to show that it was said. (Tr. 143.) The jury was giving a limiting instruction, as follows:

> Hearsay is an out-of-court statement that's submitted in court to prove a fact, to prove the truth of something. Normally, hearsay is not accepted in court unless it falls under one of the hearsay exceptions. There are a number of exceptions. But this is not presented for the truth of what was said.

> Now, Mr. Temple may have said that so and so committed the murder. That may or may not be true. This is submitted to you only for the fact that is was said, to explain this officer's actions in following up with this investigation. Now, what Mr. Temple told Mr. Ashley may or may not have been true. That's not the purpose of this testimony that's being submitted at this time.

With that caveat, the trial court overruled the objection. (Tr. 144) Temple then identified the defendant, K. D. Whittington, as the other person who was involved in the murder of Jerry Frith. Temple further testified that Dewayne Cash could verify his statement. (Tr. 144) Ashley testified that he talked with Dewayne Cash on the same afternoon he talked to Temple. Ashley testified that Dewayne Cash's testimony was consistent with what Temple had already told him. (Tr. 145. Defense counsel again objected on grounds of hearsay and speculation. The trial court overruled the objection. (Tr. 145)

In the case at bar, investigators followed a trail of breadcrumbs in order to get to Karey Whittington. It was essential for the jury to understand how they made each step in their investigation, which continued with interviews of Tony Temple and Dewayne Cash later that same day. All three witnesses, LeBlanc, Temple and Cash testified at trial to the same information Ashley used to conduct his investigation. The trial court correctly advised the jury that the testimony from Ashley was to be considered only to show that it was said and the jury is presumed to follow the trial court's instruction. The trial court was within its discretion to admit the Ashley testimony identifying Temple, Cash and Whittington and non-hearsay testimony offered only to show that it was said.

Whittington cites <u>Woods v. State 973 So.2d 1022, 1026 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)</u> for the proposition that the testimony of Temple that Temple identified Whittington and told him that Dewayne Cash could confirm the story is prohibited as "testimony by which one witness vouches for another." In *Woods*, the prosecutor asked a witness, "Can you tell when she's lying to you or when she's telling the truth." <u>Id.</u> Woods objected, but the witness answered affirmatively before Woods's objection was sustained. <u>Id.</u> Also, the witness indicated, upon questioning, that she believed Katrina. <u>Id.</u> In the case at bar, that evidence was not offered for one witness to vouch for the truthfulness of another, but only to show that it was said in order to establish the progression of the investigation. Further, at trial, defense counsel objected only on grounds of hearsay, and did not object on the grounds of incompetent and prohibited vouching. Therefore this assignment of error is barred.

**Ratcliff v. State**, 308 So.2d 225 (Miss. 1975) is clearly distinguishable, since there was no instruction by the trial court that the testimony should not be considered for the truth of the matter asserted but only for the fact that it was said. It is further distinguishable because in Ratcliff, the prosecutor stated that the informant was reliable and credible and had "given him a lot of reliable information over a period of time." *Id.* No such reassurances of credibility were given here. The testimony was presented only as what happened in the course of the investigation. *Ratcliff* and its ilk are not applicable to the case at bar.

LeBlanc testified that

That night when I was back in the trusty's dorm, there was several other inmates back there, trusties. And I got to asking question about certain people that hung around with us, you know, and the time frame that I was hanging out with these guys. And a name got brought up, and the name was K.D. Whittington. . . . I mean, I knew right then that that was the name that I couldn't think of the day before.

#### (Tr. 206-207)

LeBlanc's testimony was intended to explain his thought processes as he tried to remember who Temple had identified. LeBlanc did not testify that someone in the jail said K.D. Whittington was the murderer, but merely that the name was mentioned and this jogged his memory. The evidence was not offered to prove that Whittington committed Frith's murder but to explain how LeBlanc remembered events from several years past. This issue is without merit and the jury's verdict and the rulings of the trial court should be affirmed.

# II. Trial Court correctly sustained the prosecution's objection to the testimony of

#### Raymond Dangerfield offered by the defense.

Dangerfield testified on behalf of the defense that he was in the Pike County Jail, housed in C-Block with Karey Whittington for about five or six months. He testified that he was in the cell next to Whittington's cell. The defense attempted to question Dangerfield regarding conversations he had with Whittington about the murder. The trial court correctly ruled that this was hearsay.

Any statements made by Whittington to Dangerfield could only be admissible pursuant to M.R.E. 801(d)(1) if Whittington testified at trial, since that exception applies only to prior statements by witnesses. There is no other exception under which the testimony could be admitted and the trial court correctly sustained the prosecution's objection. The admission or exclusion of evidence is a matter of the trial court's discretion which will be reversed only for an abuse of that discretion which results in prejudice to a party. *Shearer v. State*, 423 So.2d 824, 826-27 (Miss.1982).

Whittington relies on *Le v. State*, 913 So.2d 913 (Miss. 2005) and *Jordan v. State*, 728 So.2d 1088 (Miss. 1988) for the proposition that because hearsay statements were used by the prosecution, he should be able to offer hearsay of own statements in rebuttal. However, the testimony of Ashley, Roberts and Martin identifying Temple and Whittington were all clearly admitted by the trial court only the for the purpose of showing that the statement was made and not for the truth of the matter asserted, and therefore, were not hearsay as admitted. Further, Whittington does not seek to attack the credibility of an unavailable witness whose statements are damaging to him, as is the case in *Le* and *Jordan*, he essentially seeks to testify through a proxy witness. The testimony of Temple, LeBlanc, Cash, Wallace and Berry as to statements made by Whittington as to the murder were all statements against interest by Whittington and thus admissible pursuant to 804(b)(3). Dangerfield's testimony regarding Whittington's denial of the murder is not a statement against interest and does not fall under any exception to the rule against hearsay. This issue is without merit and the jury's verdict and the rulings of the trial court should be affirmed.

III. The trial judge correctly admitted the testimony of Candy Berry regarding her reasons for approaching the prosecutor about Whittington after the defense opened the door to the testimony on cross examination.

Whittington objects to the testimony of his ex-wife Candy Berry that he was out on bond after being charged with child abuse. However, Berry's testimony to the charges against Whittington came only after defense counsel attempted to discredit her on cross examination by asserting that she intended to find something to have Whittington charged with because she was angry about the child support order that gave him shared custody and visitation with the children, and was testifying against Whittington because of her anger about the custody order. The trial court ruled that defense counsel opened the door to testimony about why she initially went to law enforcement. The testimony revealed that Berry went to the District Attorney to find out why Whittington was out on bond after he had been charged with abuse. The prosecutor was familiar with the case now at bar and asked her if she knew anything about it and discovered that she did indeed have knowledge of the murder and Whittington's involvement in it.

Candy Berry, Whittington's ex-wive testified for the prosecution. On cross examination, the following colloquy took place:

Q. Candy, since you and Karey Dale got a divorce, you have – y'all have had a kind of a rocky relationship, haven't you?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And, in fact, back the first of the year, you filed something like telephone harassment and

had him put in jail, didn't you?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And you dropped those charges, didn't you?

A. No, sir.

Q. Okay. Were they thrown out?

A. They couldn't find the charges. They had lost them.

Q. Couldn't find the charges. But you didn't refile them, did you?

A. No, sir.

Q. And then you in fact also made the statement the first part of August that you wanted him in jail, just out of the blue, you wanted him in jail, and you wish you could find something to get the DA to prosecute him on, didn't you?

A. That's not true.

Q. You didn't say that?

. . . .

Q. Okay. And that, basically, is when you told them that you wanted him in jail, didn't you?

A. No, sir.

Q. Okay. Now --

A. May I say what --

THE COURT: You may explain your answer.

A. What I told them was that I did not want him around the kids at that time.
On re-direct, the prosecution queried Berry as follows:

Q. Mr. Ainsworth asked you – I think he said you wanted him in jail and wanted something

to prosecute him about. And he also said to you – he also asked you about him being convicted and not being able to see his children.

You didn't come to the District Attorney's office to talk about this murder case did you?

A. No, sir.

Q. What did you come to the District Attorney's office to talk about?

Mr. Ainsworth: I'm going to object to any of that, Your Honor.

Mr. Tidwell: I think the door was opened, Judge.

The Court: I think so. I overrule the objection.

A. I come about child abuse and see if I could have his bond revoked to keep --

The Court: Just a minute. Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, go with your bailiffs to the jury room please.

(TR.364-365)

Mississippi Rule of Evidence 404(b) states the following as to the admissibility of prior

"bad acts":

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

In <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 912 So.2d 730, (Miss. 2005), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that where the defense opened the door to evidence of prior bad acts by eliciting testimony of good character on direct examination in its case in chief. Lisa Hodges was Quintez Hodges's sister. During cross-examination by the State she was asked about Quintez escaping from jail twice. Hodges argued on appeal that evidence of escape attempts was not relevant to any of the statutory aggravating factors and was improper rebuttal to Lisa Hodges's testimony.

The Court stated:

The prosecution has no right to introduce evidence of wrongs and bad acts to prove Hodges's character or to show he acted in conformity therewith, unless it is competent rebuttal evidence in the face of the showing of Hodges's good character made on direct examination of this witness. *Hansen v. State*, **592** So.2d **114**, **148** (Miss.1991) (citing *Simpson v. State*, 497 So.2d 424, 428-29 (Miss.1986); *Winters v. State*, 449 So.2d 766, 771 (Miss.1984)). M.R.E. 404(b) provides that:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that he acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

#### Hodges, 912 So.2d at 755.

Further, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that "the State is allowed to rebut mitigating evidence through cross-examination, introduction of rebuttal evidence or by argument." *Wiley v. State*, 750 So.2d 1193, 1202 (Miss.1999) (quoting *Turner v. State*, 732 So.2d 937 at 950).

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